
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B 

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on  

 
Monday 2 March 2020 

 
Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor D Swinerd (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
 

Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor C S McLean 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor R S L Perfitt 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 

Cabinet 

A meeting of the above will be held on  

Thursday 5 March 2020 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman) 

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 

Councillor S H Brown Councillor A R Lloyd Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells   
 

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Managing Director 

Wednesday 26 February 2020 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 

 
 

CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B  
Monday 2 March 2020 

 

CABINET 
Thursday 5 March 2020 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 
January 2020 (Pages 1 - 8) 

 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 
January 2020 as an accurate record. 
 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC 

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 3 
March 2020  

 

 These minutes are ‘to follow’. 
 

 

6. Reference from the Policy Overview Committee held on 28 
January 2020 - Litter and Recycling Services (Pages 9 - 20) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To consider a reference from the Policy Overview Committee held on 
28 January 2020 relating to litter and recycling services. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That Cabinet considers the specific requests from the Committee 
relating to the Council’s litter and recycling services and notes the 
minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 28 
January 2020. 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations 

7. Update on Essential Maintenance Works required to the Cliff on 
Land to the Rear of Maritime & Skippers Close, Greenhithe 
(Pages 21 - 24) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To update Members on essential maintenance works required to the 
cliff on land to the rear of Maritime & Skippers Close, Greenhithe and 
seek approval for the procurement aspects to enable the undertaking 
and completion of the works. 
 
Recommendations: 
 

1. That, for the reasons outlined in the report, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) be authorised to seek tenders for the 
development of a full and proper methodology of works; and 

 
2. That, following receipt of the methodology of works, the Strategic 

Director (External Services) be authorised to obtain quotations for 
various elements of the works.  

 

 

8. Lower Thames Crossing - Supplementary Consultation   

 This report is ‘to follow’. 
 

 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports 

9. Dartford Town Centre Project: Update and Next Steps   

 This report is ‘to follow’. 
 

 

10. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates (Pages 25 - 30)  

 Summary: 
 
To consider writing-off National Non-Domestic Rate debts where it 
has not been possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, 
because the ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is 
otherwise irrecoverable. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the sums shown in Exempt Appendix A to the report, amounting 
to £156,089.06, be written off as uncollectable.    
 

 

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing 

11. Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators (Pages 
31 - 52) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To report progress on the latest set of Corporate Plan key actions 

 



 

 

and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2019/20. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B to the report be 
noted.  
 

12. Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 
29 January 2020 (Pages 53 - 58) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing 
Board held on 29 January 2020. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the minutes be noted. 
 

 

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information. 
 
D - Items for Consideration in Private 

A. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A 
(Exempt Category SO 46(1)(b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 59 - 
60) 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 23 January 2020 at 7.00 
pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

78. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no Member apologies for absence. 
 
The Cabinet noted the ongoing absence of the Managing Director due to 
illness and sent him their best wishes. 
 

79. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests.  
 

80. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 5 DECEMBER 2019  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 5 December 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

81. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

82. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 20 JANUARY 2020  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A 
held on 20th January 2020 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout the 
meeting.  
 

83. REFERENCE FROM THE JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD  
 
The Cabinet considered a reference from the Joint Transportation Board 
meeting on 3rd December 2019 relating to parking issues within the Borough. 
This had arisen from discussion on two reports by Kent County Council which 
proposed introducing waiting restrictions in Chastilian Road and Wentworth 
Drive, and on the Fleet Estate. The Board had expressed considerable 
concern at the level of illegal and inconsiderate parking across the Borough 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

and particularly in roads surrounding local schools and asked Cabinet to 
consider increasing the staffing establishment in the parking enforcement 
team to increase enforcement activity to deter illegal and inconsiderate 
parking and to commission research into the extent of the problem and 
strategies for tackling it. It was noted that whilst staffing establishment matters 
were not within the Cabinet’s remit the Cabinet could determine service 
priorities which the Council would need to take into account in determining 
resources. 
 
The Cabinet noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had expressed strong 
support for the matters raised by the Joint Transportation Board and felt that 
residents would overwhelmingly support additional enforcement measures to 
deter unreasonable parking behaviours in the Borough. The Cabinet Advisory 
Panel had endorsed the recommendations contained in the report. 
 
The Cabinet welcomed the reference from the JTB but felt that the JTB had 
viewed the solution to inconsiderate parking purely as a simple increase in the 
number of enforcement officers to enforce current restrictions whereas what 
was required was a change in the parking landscape to better regulate car 
parking across the borough. The Cabinet had already asked officers to 
consider creative ways to fund and bring forward highways schemes, 
including possibly using CIL monies where appropriate, but appreciated that 
this work was time consuming and costly. Some consideration could be given 
to outsourcing this work, possibly with the intention of bringing forward three 
or four parking schemes per year in the areas of greatest need. If this was 
taken forward a process would need to be established for prioritising 
schemes. Over a period of several years this could have a powerful impact on 
influencing parking behaviours across the borough. Whilst it was true that this 
could result in a need for additional enforcement and administrative support 
this could be introduced in a balanced, organic and cost-neutral way funded 
from additional income generated through the parking schemes and 
enforcement activity. The Chairman said that he would write to the Chairman 
of the JTB to inform him of the Cabinet’s position on the referred matters.    
 
The Cabinet also discussed progress with the implementation of revised 
parking arrangements at the Highfield Road car park and preparations for 
consulting local residents about the possible introduction of a residents 
parking scheme.  
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Joint Transportation Board be advised of the Cabinet’s views 
on the parking issues referred to it for consideration arising from the 
Board’s meeting on 3rd December 2019; and 

 
2. That Officers should continue to explore ways to develop and bring 

forward appropriate parking schemes across the borough to address 
parking need and that funding requirements should be reflected in the 
budget for 2020/21.   

 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

84. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON STRENGTHENING POLICE 
POWERS TO TACKLE UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the Council’s proposed 
response to the Government consultation on proposals for ‘Strengthening 
Police Powers to tackle Unauthorised Encampments’. In its consultation the 
Home Office had acknowledged long-standing concerns about the limitations 
of Police powers relating to unauthorised encampments. These had been 
voiced in 2019 by the previous and current Home Secretaries when the 
Government heard strong views that, in spite of a range of powers already in 
place, unauthorised encampments remained a significant issue which caused 
genuine difficulties for communities. The Government was therefore 
consulting on a series of possible measures including; criminalising the act of 
trespassing when setting up an unauthorised encampment, extending the 
time period during which trespassers were prohibited from returning to land, 
lowering the number of vehicles from six to two to trigger consideration of the 
use of police powers to remove an unauthorised encampment, and providing 
powers to enable the police to remove trespassers from land forming part of 
the highway.  
 
The report also described the background to the proactive and innovative 
work of the Council’s Enforcement and Regulatory Services team in dealing 
with unauthorised encampments and explained that at one time that there had 
been differences of approach by the Council and other partners, specifically 
Kent Police and Kent County Council, which had led to a mismatch of 
expectations. The Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager had 
submitted a report to the Deputy Chief Constable for Kent regarding concerns 
about police policy, which at that time, suggested that it was for local 
authorities to resolve the ‘problem’ of unauthorised encampments. This had 
resulted in a change in Kent Police policy to reflect a more collaborative 
approach and a Memorandum of Understanding had been established 
between the Council and the Police to clearly delineate their roles and 
expectations which had resulted in close work with local police to deal with 
instances of unauthorised encampments. This approach had proved so 
successful that it had been rolled out across Kent and the number of 
instances of unauthorised encampments in the Borough reduced. Despite this 
there were clear limitations in police powers under the Criminal Justice and 
Public Order Act 1994 and some senior police officers were either unclear 
over or unwilling to use existing powers. The Council’s proposed response 
broadly supported the introduction of the additional powers being considered 
by the Government which would provide greater clarity, whilst remaining 
proportionate. 
 
The Cabinet noted that there had been considerable discussion of this item by 
the Cabinet Advisory Panel where a range of concerns were expressed from 
wanting even stronger endorsement of the Governments proposals to 
concerns around the criminalisation of trespass, erosion of civil liberties and 
the polarisation of communities. However the Cabinet Advisory Panel had 
recognised that unauthorised encampments were highly disruptive for local 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

communities and often associated with criminal activity and had therefore 
broadly supported the Council’s proposed response to the consultation. 
 
The Cabinet considered that the proposed response to the consultation was 
proportionate and welcomed the Government’s intention to take action to 
combat this illegal activity, particularly given the frequent link between this and 
other criminal and anti-social activities. The proposed response was firm but 
balanced and sent a clear message that unauthorised encampments, and the 
activities associated with them, would not be tolerated. The Cabinet 
congratulated the Government on taking this forward and also commended 
the Council’s Enforcement and Regulatory Services team for their ground-
breaking work in this area.   
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet approves the proposed response to the consultation 
'Strengthening Police Powers to tackle Unauthorised Encampments’, as set 
out in Appendix A to the report.  
 

85. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 2020/21  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which recommended rolling forward the 
Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax 2019/20 to 2020/21 with effect from 
1st April 2020. The Scheme had been subject to comprehensive review for 
2019/20 and no changes to that scheme were proposed. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to roll forward the  
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20, to be effective from 1 April 
2020. 
 

86. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 2020/21  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which proposed awarding discretionary rate 
relief to ratepayers who had made applications in respect of 2020/21, 
provided an update on the local discretionary business rate relief scheme, 
noted the level of retail discount granted for 2019/20 and the proposed 
approach to implementing the retail discount for 2020/21. 
 
A Member asked whether consideration could be given to ways of ensuring 
that the NNDR exemption of empty listed buildings was not abused. Whilst 
recognising that this was not a discretionary exemption, the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) duly noted the request. 
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the maximum level of discretionary rate relief for 2020/21 for the 

organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined in 
accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in Appendix A; 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
2. That Members note the level of local discretionary Business Rates Relief 

to be awarded in 2020/21 as set out in paragraph 3.29 of the report; and 
 

3. That Members note the level of retail discount granted for 2019/20 as set 
out in paragraph 3.32 of the report and the approach for implementing the 
retail discount for 2020/21. 

 
87. SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT - DARTFORD RUGBY LTD  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the proposed service level 
agreement between the Council and Dartford Rugby Ltd (the Club). The Club 
had taken a lease from the Council for the new community rugby facility at 
Stone Lodge but was now incurring significant costs in fitting out the facility. 
This included substantial outlays in terms of stocking the bars and kitchens, 
furnishing the bars and banqueting areas, making provision for utility bills, and 
for the maintenance and ultimate replacement costs of the artificial pitch at the 
end of its ten year lifespan. The Club had a detailed business plan to achieve 
this and had appointed a facilities manager to develop the business. In view of 
the substantial opportunities for community development, it was proposed that 
the Council would make a one-off enabling grant of £15,000 to the Club. The 
Club’s objectives included promoting rugby across Dartford’s communities, 
ensuring that the new facility was available to the community as a whole and 
helping the Council to achieve its objectives in terms of sport and health. In 
addition the Club had a detailed plan for community involvement in place and 
ambitious plans for developing the Club as a community business and 
promoting sporting diversity. The Club had developed a youth programme, 
including assistance for children from disadvantaged backgrounds, and was 
keen to drive the Club forward through youth involvement. It was also strongly 
promoting its social membership and inclusivity and had been out leafleting in 
the community to encourage people to come to the Club and get involved. 
The Club had welcomed the one off grant from the Council to help them to 
move forward at this crucial development stage and the SLA clearly set out 
the Council’s expectations in return for this assistance and also contained 
provisions in terms of monitoring performance and producing an annual 
report. The Council’s Healthy Living Co-Ordinator was already using the 
facilities as a base for activities to promote health and wellbeing. 
 
The Cabinet Advisory Panel had welcomed the grant and SLA but one 
Member questioned whether a one-off grant of £15,000 covering three years 
was actually enough. The Policy and Corporate Support Manager had 
explained that the grant had been discussed with the Club and that they were 
satisfied with the arrangement and welcomed the support which would help 
them move forward to develop the Club further. The Cabinet Advisory Panel 
strongly endorsed the recommendations contained in the report. 
 
The Cabinet expressed its support for the objectives of Dartford Rugby Ltd, 
recognised the Club’s ambitions and the work that it was already carrying out 
in the community and planning to carry out in future.  The Council had worked 
closely with the Club in developing the facilities and the Club was happy with 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

the financial support being proposed in return for the SLA. The Cabinet 
wished the Club future success. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, subject to Dartford Rugby Ltd agreeing to enter into a Service Level 
Agreement with the Council, on the terms set out in Appendix A to the report, 
the Council grant funds the Club the sum of £15,000 (fifteen thousand 
pounds) for the period 8 October 2019 to 7 October 2022. 
 

88. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - EASTERN QUARRY PHASES 4 
AND 6C  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which proposed 10 new road names for the 
development known as Eastern Quarry Phase 4 and 6C. The proposed 
names reflected the naming of roads in the surrounding area of Castle Hill 
which had taken names from World War 1 war memorials in the Borough. The 
proposed new road names were taken from the war memorial outside of 
Dartford Library and had been subject to consultation with Members, 
Emergency Services, Royal Mail and the developers. The names complied 
with the Council’s policy on Street Naming and suitable suffixes would be 
chosen once the final road names had been approved. 
 
The Cabinet particularly welcomed the recognition of those Dartford residents 
who had died in the service of their country during World War 1 and felt that it 
might be appropriate to produce a leaflet explaining the background to the 
naming of the roads which could be given to the occupants of the new houses 
upon their arrival. It was also suggested that the connection could be reflected 
in the street name signs to be erected by the developers, possibly by 
including a poppy motif and ‘Road for Heroes’ legend on the signs. 
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the new road names for Eastern Quarry Phase 4 & Phase 6C be 
approved as Atterbury, Bodycomb, Gregory, Haygreen, Inkpen, Kember, 
Mackerness, Oliver, Poffley, and Tomalin. 
 

89. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS 2020/21 AND 2021/22  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the proposed calendar of 
meetings for 2020/21 and the provisional calendar for 2021/22 for 
recommendation to the General Assembly of the Council. 
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2020/21 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2021/22 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council. 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.40 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020 

 

REFERENCE FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 28 JANUARY 2020 – LITTER AND 
RECYCLING SERVICES 
 
 
1. Summary 
 

To draw the Cabinet’s attention to recommendations made to the Cabinet by 
the Policy Overview Committee at its meeting held on 28 January 2020 in 
respect of litter and recycling services and to note the minutes of that 
meeting. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 
28 January 2020 (Appendix A attached) be noted, and that Cabinet consider 
the Committee’s specific requests for additional action(s) and resources to be 
committed to the Council’s current  Litter and Recycling service provision 
[Mins. No 35 and 36 refer]. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1 The Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 

the Chairman of Policy Overview Committee, has agreed that the most 
appropriate way for the Policy Overview Committee to report its work to 
Cabinet would be for the cleared minutes from each Committee meeting to 
be submitted to the next appropriate Cabinet meeting. 

 
3.2   At the their meeting on 28 January 2020 the Policy Overview Committee 

considered a report from the Waste and Parks Manager on the Council’s 
current Litter Service [Min. No. 35 refers].  

 
3.3    The Committee commended the Council for the proactive measures it had 

taken to date to tackle litter in the Borough including; enhanced street 
cleaning, provision of more dog and litter bins, practical assistance given to 
voluntary litter-picking groups (including removal of litter collected), provision 
of two dedicated roving litter pickers under the contract with Urbaser, and 
the issue of a ‘Duty of Care’ letter to all responsible businesses in the 
Borough, advising them of the need to have a commercial waste agreement 
contract in place, or be subject to fixed penalty fines or prosecution. In 
acknowledging the action taken to date, the Committee resolved to ask 
Cabinet to consider the following additional measures: 

 

 An increase in the provision of dual dog/litter bins in the Borough; 

 A further 2 (two) dedicated litter pickers be employed by the contractor 
Urbaser in Dartford; 

 Litter fines to be itemised for all Wards , with particular reference to 
residential Wards; 

 That investigations be undertaken to identify ‘litter hotspots’ in the 
Borough and appropriate action taken to deter offenders; 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



   

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020 

 

  

 That increased signage be deployed throughout the Borough to 
advertise the location of litter bins and other litter facilities. 
 

3.4 In considering the Council’s current Recycling Service [Min. No 36 refers] 
the Committee resolved to make the following specific recommendations to 
Cabinet for action as appropriate: 

 

  Consideration of how the Cabinet, on behalf of the residents of 
Dartford, satisfy themselves that material sent for recycling is 
actually recycled; 

 That a performance indicator (PI) be added to the Council’s 
Corporate Plan Quarterly Performance Indicator reports submitted 
to Cabinet and the POC; 

 That the Council’s Litter Portal on the public website be updated to 
include specific details on what containers and other items could be 
recycled; 

 That consideration be given to what further measures the Council 
could take to meet the Government’s national target for recycling by 
local authorities of 50% [Dartford currently recycles 25% of waste].  
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 To be an inclusive, well led and managed organisation, with an open and 

positive culture, making the best use of its resources, and recognising the vital 
contribution of all members and staff. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Minutes of 28 January 2020 
 

DOCUMENTS CONSULTED 

 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

POC Minutes 
of 28 January 
2020 

  David Hook 
01322 343276 

Democratic 
Services 
Strategic Director 
(External  
Services) 

N/A 

Page 10Agenda Item 6



 

1 

Appendix A 
D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 

 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 28 
January 2020 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs. A E D Barham (Substitute)  
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
 

 
ALSO 
PRESENT: 

Trish Chapman – Chair, Dartford Tenant’s & 
Leaseholder’s Forum  
 
 

   
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services) 

 Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager 
 

28. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Burrell and Butterfill 
(Substitute Cllr. Barham). 
 
The Chairman welcomed Patricia Chapman (Dartford Tenant’s and 
Leaseholder’s Forum) to the meeting and noted the presence of the Strategic 
Director (External Services) and the Waste & Parks Manager to respond to 
Members questions and concerns.  
 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

2 

29. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

30. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2019  
 
The Chairman advised Members of two points arising from the Minutes: 
 
(i) Urgent Care Services in Dartford, Gravesend & Swanley [Min. No 

22 refers]: following the public consultation exercise, the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley CCG had decided to fund Urgent Treatment 
Centres at both Darent Valley and Gravesham Community hospitals; 

 
(ii) Illegal Dumping, Enforcement and Household Waste Recycling 

Centres [Min. No 24 refers]: All qualifying businesses had received a 
letter from the Council’s Enforcement Manager reminding 
owner/occupiers that the Council’s waste and recycling service was for 
household waste, and that as a consequence, businesses were 
required to have commercial (trade) waste agreements in place for the 
collection and disposal of their waste. The letter further advised that 
from 10 February 2020, failure to comply with this requirement would 
lead to a fixed penalty notice fine of £300 or court proceedings.  

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the Minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held 

on 10 September 2019 be confirmed as accurate. 
 

31. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items for the Committee to consider. 
 

32. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider. 
 

33. REGULATION 9 NOTICE  
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation Notice for the period 
15 January 2020 to 31 May 2020 as issued in the agenda papers. 

 
34. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

MEETING HELD ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2019  
 
The Chairman advised Members that all appropriate and relevant action had 
now been taken by Officers in relation to the five action points listed in the 
report, including the addition of relevant topics to the Committee’s Work Plan, 
for future consideration in March 2020. 

Page 12Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

3 

 
   RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the action taken by Officers as detailed in the 
report.  

 
35. THE LITTER SERVICE  

 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn down the inter-related 
topics of the Council’s Litter and Recycling services for consideration by the 
Committee, given their importance to the Borough and its residents, but 
wished to deal with them separately.  
 
He proposed that the discussion on the Litter Service proceed on the basis 
that all Members had read the report presented by the Waste and Parks 
Manager (WPM), and that the author respond to questions, rather than 
present the report. 
 
In response to subsequent specific questions from the Chairman and 
Members, the WPM confirmed the following principal points: 
 

 The Council’s public website included a ‘litter portal’ which any resident 
could access to obtain the details of when their street was swept and 
when it was scheduled to be swept next, plus any other location in the 
borough for which the Council was responsible. The portal also 
provided a contact point for residents who had questions/were unsure 
whether a particular site was a Council responsibility or not (e.g. private 
land); 

 As a Principal Litter Authority (PLA) under s89 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, the Council had a duty to keep adopted public 
highway and owned land under their control clean as practically 
possible. This entailed the cleaning of some 1,000 plus roads on a 
staggered basis; residential roads 4 weekly, main roads fortnightly, 
town centres (Dartford, Longfield and Swanscombe) were cleaned 
daily. Roads on new estates were added to the Council’s street 
cleaning list, following adoption by Kent County Council; 

 The Council’s contractor Urbaser Ltd, undertook street cleaning under 
the terms of its Waste Collection and Street Cleaning contract (2019-
2024) using a variety of equipment including: 3 mechanical street 
cleaners with brushes, 5 caged transit vans with 2 operatives, 3 one 
man barrows in the town centres, plus 2 litter pickers on a roving basis 
through-out the borough; 

 Street cleaning was defined as the removal of litter and detritus (gravel, 
silt, leaves, etc.) as required. The Council did not clean ‘clean’ streets, 
rather it cleaned as required according to its published schedule. If a 
street was ‘clean’ the contractor moved onto the next scheduled 
location. Hand picking of litter remained the most effective solution. In 
addition to the 3 barrows patrolling the town centres, Urbaser had litter 
pickers on standby every day in Hi-Viz jackets, ready to respond to 
incidents of excessive littering on a needs basis, using litter sticks and 
green sacks; 

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

4 

 The effectiveness of signage encouraging the public not to litter and to 
behave more responsibly was difficult to gauge, but the WPM 
undertook to consider the Member suggestion. 

 
Several Members expressed a variety of concerns over the current number 
and location of litter and dog bins, the regularity that bins were emptied, the 
need for litter bins at bus stops to lessen the perceived increases in 
incidences of food and drink littering at bus stops prior to passengers 
boarding buses, how to encourage businesses to be more litter-aware and 
prevent their customers from discarding packaging in the street environment, 
and how to tackle litter in alleyways - including the role of the Council over 
littering in privately owned alleyways. 
 
The WPM advised Members that 50 new (dual use) litter and dog bins had 
been provided across the borough in the preceding 12 month period. This 
brought the overall total up to 750 bins (of which some 100 were new) for 
some 109,000 Dartford residents. There was no known method to calculate 
the number of dog bins per population given the number of variable factors 
involved. He believed most locations had now been covered but undertook to 
listen to requests for further bins. He warned however, that for every request 
received [for a new litter/dog bin], the Council received at least one objection 
from a resident requesting that a litter bin not be situated near to their 
property. Regarding emptying - litter/dog bins were cleared at least once per 
week, but requests for a twice-weekly service would be considered.  
 
Regarding alleyways, most were private and as such, the Council did not 
clean them. However, the Council would provide support to private litter 
picking initiatives by residents (provided such exercises were deemed safe), 
with the provision of sticks, litter sacks and Hi-Viz jackets on request. He 
confirmed that the Council would also collect supermarket trolleys if advised 
of their location. 
 
The removal of fly-tipped sofas and white goods were the responsibility of 
Urbaser under the terms of their contract with the Council. Residents could 
advise Urbaser of the locations of such articles through the ‘litter portal’ on the 
Council website and request removal via Urbaser’s 2 day response Hit Squad. 
If articles were deemed a public danger, same day pick-up by Urbaser could 
be considered. It was crucial to report incidents and make requests via the 
Council’s litter portal, to get the details into the system quickly, and to enable 
retention for future reference e.g. to identify ‘litter hotspots’; rather than 
residents taking ad-hoc removal action. The Council also working closely and 
effectively with KCC’s Dartford Manager regarding fly tipping on the M25 and 
A2 roads which lay outside the Council’s area of direct responsibility.  
 
In response to a variety of further supplementary questions from Members, 
the WPM gave the following advice: 
   

  Urbaser cleared all recycling sites (including Temple Hill) three times 
per week according to a published schedule; 

 new increased signage advertising the location of recycling sites was 
being undertaken; 

Page 14Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

5 

 Vendors operating from private land/property could not be fined for 
littering by their customers in the street environment.  However, under 
the Council’s ‘Duty of Care’ regulations, vendors could be fined by the 
Council’s Enforcement Manager or prosecuted in court if, following 
inspection, they were found to have no commercial (trade) waste 
collection agreement in place for the collection and disposal of their 
waste, or had inadequate storage facilities for that trade waste prior to 
its collection; 

 Overflowing litter bins e.g. as observed by a Member in the Town 
centre,  should be reported to the Council by both Members and 
residents via the ‘street history’ tab in the litter portal litter ‘in-box’, or 
directly to the WPM by email, and action would be taken to adjust the 
scheduling for emptying it accordingly; 

 The Council monitored its contractors and all/any complaints over dog 
bins not being emptied to schedule would be investigated by the WPM, 
and collections increased to 2 per week if required; 

 Regarding the apparent increase in street litter following bin collections 
by the Council’s contractors, Members were advised that the Council 
had no ‘sidewaste’ policy regarding litter bin spillage. If contractors spilt 
contents during the collection process, they were bound under the 
contract terms to clean up. However, overflowing bins prior to collection 
were the responsibility of residents. 

 
The Chairman had circulated photos of selected alleyways in Heath, West Hill 
and Burnham Wards which suffered from indiscriminate littering. The locations 
were muddy and covered in weeds which, he believed, encouraged offending. 
He asked whether the Council could clear them and perhaps concrete them 
over.  
 
The WPM advised that if public land the Council or Kent Highways could 
consider action, but not if the property was private. He asked that the 
Chairman provide him with the exact locations and he would investigate 
further. 
 
In concluding the discussion, the Chairman expressed his thanks to the 
Waste and Parks Manager for his report and attendance that evening to 
respond to Members’ questions and concerns. He also noted that the WPM 
had attended and reported to Members on several occasions in the preceding 
months, and proposed that an annual update report to the Committee 
[January 2021] would now suffice to meet Members concerns going forward, 
and asked that the Committee’s Work Plan be updated to this effect. 
 
Members supported the Chairman in his proposal and expression of thanks to 
the Waste and Parks Manager. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report; 
 

2. That Members commend the Council’s proactive measures to tackle 
litter in the Borough and the specific efforts regarding: the cleaning of 

Page 15 Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

6 

street gutters, the increased provision of both litter and dog bins in the 
preceding 12 month period, the practical assistance given by the 
Waste & Parks Manager to volunteer groups undertaking litter picking 
(provision of sticks, sacks, gloves, rings, hi-vis jackets and subsequent 
collection of full litter sacks), the provision of 2 dedicated litter pickers 
under the terms of the Council’s litter contract with Urbaser; 

 
3. That Members commend the Council for issuing a ‘Care of Duty’ letter 

from the Enforcement Manager to all responsible businesses in 
Dartford, regarding the need to have commercial waste agreements in 
place for the collection and disposal of their waste; 
 

4. That the agreed Minutes of the meeting be referred to Cabinet with the 
specific recommendations that the Administration consider the case 
for: 
 

 a further increase in litter and dog bin provision across the 
Borough; 

 a further 2 litter pickers be employed by Urbaser in Dartford; 

 litter fines to be itemised for all Wards, with particular reference 
to residential Wards; 

 investigation to be undertaken to identify ‘litter hotspots’ and 
appropriate action considered; 

 increased signage to be provided regarding the provision and 
location of litter bins and other litter facilities; 

 
5. That Members receive an update report from the Waste and Parks 

Manager on the proposals as Minuted above in January 2021 and that 
the Committee’s Work Plan be updated to this effect. 

 
36. THE RECYCLING SERVICE  

 
The Chairman repeated his proposal for the Litter item [Min. No 35 refers] that 
discussion commence on the basis that all Members had read the report on 
the Council’s Recycling Service submitted by the Waste and Parks Manager 
(WPM) and that the Manager now respond to any questions from Members.  
  
He opened the discussion by referring Members to para 3.1 of the report 
which advised the Committee that the Council was a Waste Collection 
Authority (WCA) under s30 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, and that 
under the subsequent Household Waste Recycling Act 2003 the Council (as a 
WCA) had to recycle some of the waste it collected. Recycling was not 
therefore a new topic, but an obligation the Council had held for a 
considerable time. He referred Members to para 3.8 of the report and asked 
the WPM what assurance the Council had that the material it sent for 
recycling at the Viridor Materials Recycling Facility at Crayford, was in fact 
recycled. 
 
The WPM advised that it was difficult to gauge with any degree of certainty 
how much of the Council’s waste was in fact recycled. The Council collected 
some 9,000 tonnes of recyclable waste from the kerbside in 2018/19 which 

Page 16Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

7 

formed part of an overall total of 150,000 tonnes of waste sent to Viridor, 
figures for 2019/20 were expected to be the same. The WPM recorded the 
amount of waste sent to Viridor for recycling on a daily basis, and submitted 
quarterly totals to the Government under the legislation requirements for a 
Waste Collection Authority (WCA). 
 
However, the Council played no part in the recycling process once the waste 
was delivered to Viridor who, as a private business and money-making 
concern, disposed of waste on the ‘spot market’. This was a complicated 
process which involved several factors that made it difficult to confirm how 
much of the Council’s waste was ultimately recycled and by whom. For 
example, tin cans were broken down into 6 different categories and paper into 
9 different categories, which impacted on the viability of recycling and 
sale/disposal via ‘spot market’ on any given day. In terms of end destination 
for recyclable waste, China had been the major buyer but no longer. Some 
75% of recyclable waste was now sold in the U.K. with Spain the major 
European buyer, but it was not possible for the Council to verify what was sold 
and to whom. To help reduce the Council’s carbon footprint, waste from the 
east side of the borough was sent to Pepperhill for reprocessing and waste 
from the west side of the town went to Viridor at Crayford. 
 
The Chairman thanked the WPM for his detailed explanation of the process 
undertaken by Viridor to dispose of the Council’s recyclable waste and asked 
whether the authority maintained targets for its recycling rates. He noted that 
the Corporate Plan – Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring 
Report, for Quarter 2 of the 2019/20 Municipal Year [agenda Item 10 p.45 
refers] - made no reference to a PI  for recycling rates, and asked if one could 
be added.  
 
The WPM informed Members that at present 25% of the Borough’s waste was 
sent for recycling and that 10% of the waste collected for recycling was non-
recyclable contaminants. 
 
In response to further specific questions and expressions of concern from 
Members, the WPM confirmed the following points: 
 

 The Government’s national target for recycling was 50% by 2020, but 
failure to meet it was not subject to penalty (or reward if exceeded); 

 Ashford Council had achieved a 55% recycling target but that included 
a food waste and free garden waste service; 

 The majority response from the public to the Council’s last (third) Big 
Bin Vote was that residents were happy with the current waste services 
offered and did not want a food waste service. There was therefore, no 
provision for a food waste service in the current contract with Urbaser 
(2019 to 2024); 

 50% of local authorities across the UK did not provide a food waste 
service to residents, but only two in Kent did not. There was currently 
no spare capacity for the Waste Disposal Authority (KCC) to accept 
food waste in Kent;  

 Whilst Dartford did not provide a food waste service to residents, 99% 
of all food waste from the borough was incinerated to generate 

Page 17 Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

8 

electricity at the ‘Energy for Waste’ plant at Allington in Maidstone. 
Incineration was the ‘least-worse’ option for disposal of waste and the 
incinerators at Allington had been retro-fitted to maximise efficiency 
and minimise emissions. Less than 1% of the overall waste collected 
by the Council went to landfill (the least-best option); 

 The Council did provide a Garden Waste collection for composting 
including – grass cuttings, leaves, twigs, fallen fruit, fruit and vegetable 
peelings; 

 The Council contractor Urbaser ran a mixed fleet of vehicles to suit all 
locations and road sizes. The vehicles were tracked and subject to 
video camera footage, to ensure that all kerbside waste collected was 
kept in split compartments for general waste and recycling and not 
cross-contaminated; 

 Regarding an ‘audit trail’ for recyclable waste, the Council delivered its 
waste to Viridor so had no control over the final destination of the 
waste, but the spreadsheet records submitted to Government showed 
that the majority remained in the U.K. and the balance went to Spain. 

 
The Strategic Director (External Services) reminded Members at this juncture, 
that the Council was a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) it was not 
responsible for the disposal of household waste collected. Kent County 
Council was the responsible Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for Dartford, the 
Council was only tasked with waste collection under the legislation [EPA 1990 
and HWRA 2003]. 
 
With regard to a food waste collection service, the topic had last been 
considered by Cabinet in March 2018 [Min. No 115 refers] and the decision 
taken not to provide a separate food waste service for a further 5 year period. 
 
In response to a final question from a Member, the WPM confirmed that all 
revenue from recycling accrued to KCC as the disposing authority, who in turn 
paid FCC Environment Ltd £110 per tonne for carrying out the waste disposal 
processes. FCC also gained revenue from the production of electricity [from 
food waste]. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director for her comments and the WPM 
for the further detail he had provided in response to Members’ questions, 
regarding the Council’s current recycling performance and the topic of a 
separate food collection service. 
  
In closing the discussion, the Chairman sought clarification from the WPM on 
a variety of food packaging items that he had brought to the meeting, and 
asked whether they were recyclable. 
 
The WPM referred Members to para 3.3 of his report, which listed a variety of 
mixed materials which could be collected under the Council’s kerbside 
collection service, and gave the following additional guidance to the 
Committee: 
 

 No polystyrene containers, wrapping cups etc.; 

 Any bottle, tub or tray (except black plastic – see below) if rinsed; 

Page 18Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

9 

 Metal and moulded products were collected together; 

 Lids could be kept on plastic bottles e.g. milk containers; 

 Labels could remain on plastic cartons/containers; 

 All/any paper and cardboard; 

 Any cans including aerosol cans provided they were empty; 

 No black plastic lids or cartons because black items could not be 
scanned for sorting [by light-sensor]; 

 No wax products e.g. candles. 
 
The WPM also undertook to consider posting pictures of recyclable products 
on the Council’s website, and re-instating the provision of a Council Recycling 
stand at the Dartford Festival. 
 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report; 
 

2. That the agreed Minutes of the meeting be referred to Cabinet for 
discussion, to include: 
 

 Consideration of how the Cabinet on behalf of the residents of 
Dartford satisfy themselves that material sent for recycling is 
actually recycled;  

 The addition of a performance indicator (PI) to the Council’s 
Quarterly Performance Indicator report for the 2017-20 
Corporate Plan and subsequent Corporate Plans; 

 That the Council’s Litter Portal be updated to include specific 
details on what containers and other items could be recycled; 

 Consideration of what further measures the Council could take 
to meet the Government’s 50% national recycling target for 2020 
for Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs).  

 
37. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

MONITORING REPORT, QUARTER 2 OF THE 2019/20 MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
The report and appendices updated Members on the progress made with 
meeting the key actions and performance indicators for the Council’s 
Corporate Plan in the second quarter of the 2019/20 municipal cycle, as 
presented to Cabinet on 5 December 2019. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report as set out in detail in 
appendices A and B. 

 
38. WORK PLAN UPDATE  

 
The Chairman advised that the next meeting of the Committee in March would 
concentrate on health matters, including separate updates from 

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

10 

representatives of the DGS CCG, the D&G NHS Trust/Virgin Care on the 
health care provision they provided to Dartford residents. 
 
A separate presentation from West Kent CCG’s CAMHS team was also 
proposed, and the Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual Report for 
2018/19 would also be presented to Members, in addition to stock agenda 
items. 
 
He asked that the Cabinet Member for health matters be invited to attend the 
meeting. 
 
   RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Committee’s current work plan 
for the remainder of the 2019/20 municipal cycle and beyond, as set 
out in Appendix A to the report; 

2. That Members receive an update report from the Waste and Parks 
Manager on the Council’s Litter Service in January 2021 [Min. No 35 
refers]; 

3. That Members receive an update report from the Waste and Parks 
Manager on the Council’s Recycling Service in January 2021 [Min. No 
36 refer]. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 8.40 pm 
 

  
Councillor M J Davis 

CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 

Page 20Agenda Item 6



                 
CABINET 

5 March 2020 

 

UPDATE ON ESSENTIAL MAINTENANCE WORKS REQUIRED TO THE 
CLIFF ON LAND TO THE REAR OF MARITIME & SKIPPERS CLOSE, 
GREENHITHE. 
 

 

1. SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report updates Members on essential maintenance works required to the cliff 
on land to the rear of Maritime & Skippers Close, Greenhithe and seeks approval 
for the procurement aspects to enable the undertaking and completion the works. 
 

1.2 This is a key decision as the works are expected to exceed the £500,000 
threshold. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1 That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) be authorised to seek tenders for the development of a full and 
proper methodology of works. 

 
2.2 That, following receipt of the methodology of works, the Strategic Director (External 

Services) be authorised to obtain quotations for various elements of the works. 
 

 

3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 In or around the 1980s, the Council assumed ownership of a chalk cliff face and a 
small amount of surrounding land to the rear of Maritime & Skippers Close, 
Greenhithe. 
 

3.2 The cliff is approximately 200 metres long and ranges from 0 – 10 metres in height 
and has properties at the top and bottom of the cliff, within approximately 5 metres 
from the face. At the bottom of the cliff, there is a narrow pathway of approximately 2 
metres bordering the rear gardens of the properties in Maritime & Skippers Close. 

 
3.3 During routine vegetation clearance works on the cliff during the summer of 2019, 

Council contractors noted large amounts of chalk had fallen from the cliff face and 
raised concerns with the Waste and Recycling Manager as responsible asset officer. 

 

3.4 Following monitoring by structural experts over the summer and autumn of 2019, it 
became clear that the cliff face is being damaged by vegetation and roots which have 
started to delaminate the cliff face. Although it is not expected that the cliff will be 
subject to a large-scale collapse, it is likely that unless essential maintenance works is 
undertaken, the cliff face will continue to delaminate and rock fall will increase in terms 
of volume and frequency. 

 
 

3.5 Works 
 

Due to the damage the roots have caused and continue to cause, engineers have 
recommended: 

 vegetation be cut back 

 a level pathway be formed at the foot of the cliff to aid future maintenance of the   
    Cliff 
 

  a catch fence be erected to the rear of the properties on Maritime & Skippers   
   Close 

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



               
  

CABINET 
5 March 2020 

 

 
 

    intrusive surveys be undertaken and depending on the outcome, structural netting   
   or regrading is considered for the future safety of the cliff 

  an ongoing maintenance regime is put in place for the cliff face  

    a full survey be undertaken, including a drone survey, to capture the full   
   measurement, profile & angle of the cliff face 

 

3.6 Issues Arising 
 

(1) Due to the properties at the top and the bottom of the cliff, access is very difficult 
and there are no clear areas from where the works can be completed. 

 
(2) Before any works can begin, the current rock fall needs to be cleared from the 

pathway at the bottom of the cliff, to allow access. 
 

(3) There is only one access point to the far end of the pathway (Eagles Road), which 
makes accessibility for the works difficult. 

 
(4) Although it is clear that the works are required in the immediate to short term, 

future consideration will have to be given to the bird and bat nesting season. 
 

(5) Due to the many complexities of the works, the fact that the properties are close to 
the top and bottom of the cliff and there is only one access point, it is difficult to 
produce a full working specification to use for normal tender purposes. 

 
3.7 Resident Impact/Consultation  
 

(1) Due to the noise and disruption that will inevitably be caused, each affected 
resident will be sent a letter explaining what works/surveys are planned and when. 

 
(2) It is likely that the Council will want to carry out intrusive surveys of some of the 

properties at the top and bottom of the cliff to ensure they are not damaged during 
the course of the works. Again, letters will be sent to those affected, prior to any 
works/surveys being carried out. 

 
(3) At all times, residents will have a single point of contact at the Council, to discuss 

any issues arising. 
 

(4)  Ward Members and the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council will be notified 
before commencement of the works. 

 
3.8  Procurement & Evaluation 
 
(1) A specialist contractor will be sought through a competitive tender process on a 

quality only basis and they, the Council and a structural engineer will jointly, develop 
a full and proper methodology of works to be agreed, before a cost is sought from 
the contractor, in conjunction with an independent cost consultant. The full and final 
costs cannot be confirmed until the methodology has been agreed. 

 
 
 
 
 
(2) There is a level of uncertainty with regard to the final costs of the works required due 

Page 22Agenda Item 7



               
  

CABINET 
5 March 2020 

 

 
 

to the hidden nature of the work, but a budget of £1.5m has been allocated to 
undertake the works.   

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
None. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications 
 

An allocation of £1.5m has been included in the General 
Fund Capital Programme for the works in 2020/21, with 
£0.5m in the 2021/22 financial year. 
 
A top end/prudent budget estimate has been included in the 
capital programme as the full scope of the works is yet to be 
determined. 
 
The extent of the works needed will depend upon the results 
of additional surveys undertaken during the works and are 
not measurable at this time. 

Legal Implications None. 

Staffing Implications None. 

Admin Implications None. 

Risk Assessment Due to the condition of the cliff, the works detailed in this 
report and maintenance are essential to protect local 
residents and properties in Maritime & Skipper Close. 

  
6. Appendices - None. 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report 
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

   Paul Koster 
Maintenance Manager 
01322 343623 

Housing/ 
Strategic 

N/A 

 

Page 23 Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



                 

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020 

 
 

SD (IS) 
 

WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 
 

 
1. Summary 
 

1.1 To consider writing-off Non Domestic Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, because the 
ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1. That the sums shown at Appendix A, in the confidential part of the 

report, amounting to £156,089.06, be written off as uncollectible.  
 

 
 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. In each of the cases shown in Appendix A the debts are considered 
uncollectible for the reasons set out in this report. 
 

3.2. The normal stages of recovery referred to in subsequent paragraphs 
are the issue of bills, reminders, final notices and the application for a 
liability order.  Thereafter, a case may be subject to further action 
which can include the instruction of bailiffs, the commencement of 
insolvency proceedings or an application for a warrant of commitment 
to prison. 

 
3.3. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because there 

appears to be little or no prospect of a dividend to unsecured 
creditors, should such a dividend subsequently be paid, the amount 
of the dividend will be written on to reduce the sums written off as bad 
debt. 

 
3.4. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because the 

ratepayer has gone away and all attempts to trace have proven 
unsuccessful, should their whereabouts subsequently become 
known, the debt will be re-instated. 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25 Agenda Item 10



                 

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020  

 
 

SD (IS)  

Case 1 
 
3.5. The property was first entered in to the Rating list on 29 March 2018, 

effective from 1 August 2015. 
      

3.6. The ratepayer was taken through the normal stages of recovery with 
a summons being issued on 2 July 2018. 

 
3.7. Liability to pay retrospectively was initially disputed via a rating agent 

but the Council rejected the challenge.  The ratepayer attended Court 
on 23 July 2018 and presented evidence of an appeal to the 
Valuation Office Agency.  The liability order hearing was adjourned to 
17 September 2018 for investigations.  

 
3.8. The ratepayer supplied evidence of their financial situation and a 

temporary payment arrangement was made on 16 August 2018, with 
a review set for six months. 

 
3.9. The adjourned hearing took place on 17 September 2018 and the 

liability order was duly granted. 
 

3.10. On 22 November 2018 the property was taken out of the Rating List 
effective from 23 July 2018. 

 
3.11. Payment was made at the agreed rate and reviewed in February 

2019.  The arrangement was extended for three months for up to date 
accounts to be produced and for confirmation of an imminent 
significant reduction in the backdated rateable value. 

 
3.12. The rateable value applicable from 1 August 2015 to 31 March 2017 

was reduced on 6 March 2019 and the arrangement extended again. 
 

3.13. Payments continued until 10 September 2019.  An email was sent to 
review the arrangement again on 3 October 2019. 

 
3.14. Recovery action had to cease when the ratepayer went into 

administration on 4 November 2019.  A proof of debt has been lodged 
with the Administrator.  The debt is therefore submitted for write off 
pending receipt of any dividends.     

 
Case 2 

 
3.15. The ratepayer was registered retrospectively on 25 January 2017, 

effective from 23 September 2016 following a telephone call.   
 

3.16. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 24 April 2017 and 25 
September 2017. 

 

Page 26Agenda Item 10



                 

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020  

 
 

SD (IS)  

3.17. When copy bills and the liability orders were returned ‘gone away’, 
investigations began to trace the ratepayer. 

 
3.18. On 22 November 2017 Companies House records indicated that 

there was a proposal to strike off the company.    Compulsory strike- 
off action was then suspended on 5 December 2017 because of an 
objection. 

 
3.19. Investigations continued to try and locate the ratepayer but had to 

cease when the company was dissolved on 19 December 2019.  
 
Cases 3 - 7  
 

3.20. The ratepayer was responsible for four hereditaments (three public 
houses and one restaurant) at various times between 1 April 2011 
and 7 October 2018. 
 

3.21. She used two names and was responsible both jointly with relatives 
for some periods and for others on her own. 

 
3.22. In each case the ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of 

recovery and liability orders were granted. 
 

3.23. After attempts to collect the debt via enforcement agents had proven 
unsuccessful, on 28 November 2017 the Council instructed solicitors 
to commence bankruptcy proceedings.  These proceedings also 
encompassed Council Tax debts and were undertaken jointly with 
another Kent billing authority. 

 
3.24. This decision was taken because the Council was reasonably 

satisfied that the ratepayer has sufficient assets to cover the 
outstanding debts, in the form of property. 

 
3.25. The bankruptcy petition was presented to the Court on 2 March 2018 

and the ratepayer was subsequently made bankrupt on 13 August 
2018. 

 
3.26. Proof of Debt has been lodged with the Insolvency Practitioner and 

the debt is submitted for write-off pending realisation of the 
ratepayer’s assets and declaration of any dividend.    

 
Case 8 
 

3.27. The ratepayer was registered retrospectively on 13 May 2013, 
effective from 13 July 2012, per information from the liquidators of the 
previous ratepayer. 
 

3.28. Payment was made to cover arrears and then continued by Direct 
Debit until 1 January 2019. 

Page 27 Agenda Item 10



                 

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020  

 
 

SD (IS)  

 
3.29. The Council was advised on 5 February 2019 that the Direct Debit 

had been cancelled.   
 

3.30. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 23 May 2019. 

 
3.31. Enforcement agents were instructed on 7 August 2019 but returned 

the case on 11 September 2019 having been unable to collect the 
outstanding balance. 

 
3.32. Recovery action had to cease when the company went into liquidation 

on 26 September 2019.   
 

3.33. Proof of Debt has been lodged with the liquidator and the debt is 
therefore submitted for write-off pending declaration of any dividends. 
   

 
Case 9 

 
3.34. The ratepayer was registered retrospectively on 24 May 2017, 

effective from 1 September 2012, following a protracted dispute with 
the owner of the property and the production of a four-year lease. 
 

3.35. Liability ceased on 3 May 2016 with the sale of the property. 
 

3.36. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 25 September 2017. 

 
3.37. Enforcement agents were instructed but the account had to be put on 

hold when the ratepayer disputed liability.    He maintained that he 
had vacated the property in 2013 and had only operated from there 
for six months. 

 
3.38. Evidence had been gathered that indicated the ratepayer was being 

contacted by a third party for use of equipment in the premises in 
January 2014.  Furthermore, requests for government returns were 
still being issued in his name in January 2015. 

 
3.39. The ratepayer was initially contacted at a forwarding address where 

he was known to have been registered for Council Tax purposes and 
had financial links. 

 
3.40. The ratepayer subsequently claimed to be of no fixed abode and 

attempts to contact him after early 2018 were unsuccessful. 
 

3.41. Information received from the new owner indicates that the property 
was boarded up on 24 February 2016 but it was not possible to gain 

Page 28Agenda Item 10



                 

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020  

 
 

SD (IS)  

access until 2018 to ascertain whether the property was empty for 
rating purposes. 

 
3.42. Even if the ratepayer’s current whereabouts were known, at this stage 

the only recovery option left would be for an application for committal 
to prison for non-payment.  In view of the ratepayer’s dispute and the 
inconclusive evidence of liability subsisting throughout the charged 
period, this course of action is likely to fail. 

 
3.43. The debt is therefore submitted for write-off as being irrecoverable.    

 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
 assessments 
 

Financial Implications Under the Business Rate Retention 
rules the cost of writing off uncollectible 
debt is shared between Central 
Government, Dartford Borough Council, 
Kent County Council and Kent & 
Medway Fire and Rescue Authority.  
 
As such, the potential cost to Dartford 
Borough Council is normally up to 
£62,436 this being 40% of the total debt 
recommended for write-off.  
 
A provision is set aside for these 
potential costs and the level of the 
provision is reassessed each year.  
 
 

Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A Non-Domestic Rate debts submitted for write-off.   
 
This appendix has been placed on the closed part of the agenda because it 
relates to exempt information within the category contained in Standing Order 
46(1) (b) Annex 1, namely paragraph 3 information relating to the financial 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding the 

Page 29 Agenda Item 10



                 

CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020  

 
 

SD (IS)  

information) and in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in not 
disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

NNDR 
system & 
EDMS 

Various  Sue Cressall 
01732 227041 

Revenues 
 

Appendix A 
SO46 (1) (b) 
Annex 1 
Para. 3 

 

Page 30Agenda Item 10



CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
17 MARCH 2020 

 
 
CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

 

 
1. Summary 
 

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2019/20. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1  That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 

the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes: 

 Economic Development and Regeneration 

 Health and Wellbeing 

 Safer Communities 

 Environment and Sustainability 

 Housing and Stronger Communities 

 
3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself: 

 

 A Council Performing Strongly 
 

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough. 
 

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the second quarter of 
2019/20. 
 

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report. 
 

Page 31 Agenda Item 11



CABINET 
5 MARCH 2020 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
17 MARCH 2020 

 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 

Indicators. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report 
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Corporate Plan 2017-20  Sarah Williamson 

(01322) 343470 
Policy and 
Corporate 
Support 
 
Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services) 

N/A 

 

Page 32Agenda Item 11



1 

APPENDIX A 
 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20 
Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q3 2019/20 

 

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities 

 

Key Action Q3 Update 

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing 

Full permission on Phases 1 and 3b now secured and construction is progressing on-
site.  Marketing suite opened end of January and sales have commenced on first 
phase. 
 

Phases 2 and 3a approved in principle at DC Board in November 2019, subject to a 
S106 Agreement. 
 

Planning application for the Vauxhall Farm approved in principle at DC Board in 
November 2019, subject to a S106 Agreement. 

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site 
Regular meetings continue to take place with the developer. The planning application 
is expected to be submitted in March 2020. 

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot 

Works on Market St commenced in May and are well progressed with change-over to 
work on northern side of street expected February. There has been some delay to 
completion due to Thames Water works, with completion now expected in June 2020.   
High St scheme designed. Construction to commence May/June 2020 with 
completion in October 2020. Phase 2 of the project covering junctions at Lowfield 
St/Instone Rd, Instone Rd/Highfield Rd, Highfield Rd/West Hill to commence in 
September 2020. Improvements to Hythe St/Westgate Rd junction and East Hill/ 
Home Gardens are currently planned to commence in March 2021. This will be 
followed by commencement of works on Hythe St, planned to commence in July 
2021.  

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square 

Works on Market St commenced in May 2019. Work is to be carried out in two parts 
on the highway, with a permanent new road almost completed on the south side 
whilst a temporary road has been constructed  on the other half and this is now in 
use. There has been some delay due to Thames Water works.  The scheme is now 
expected to be complete by June 2020. 

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes 

1,088 homes delivered in Dartford part of EDC area to April 2019. A further 6,436 
homes have outline or reserved matters consent, 5,511 at Eastern Quarry, 602 at 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 11



2 

Ebbsfleet Green, 103 at Craylands Lane and 220 at the Croxton and Garry site. 
There is also an outline planning consent for up to 2,320 homes at Ebbsfleet Central - 
this is likely to be revisited. 

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments 

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Funding secured for Fastrack tunnel link to Bluewater. 
Works to commence in spring 2020 and complete in 2021, to tie in with link from 
Ebbsfleet, through Eastern Quarry to Bluewater which is due to open in September 
2021. 
 

London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane completed Spring 2019. 
 

A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service. 

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces 

River works commenced following approvals from EA. Associated river channel 
works in Central Park almost complete with a new weir to follow shortly. Acacia 
demolitions well advanced with only the ballroom left (delayed through EA approval 
process) but should commence in the next month. Still awaiting S278 approval from 
KCC but main car park works commencing in January. 

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford 

We have revised the website for the Dartford Business Awards and continue to work 
with Kent Growth Hub who are also promoting business opportunities in Dartford. 

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition We have started planning for the 2020 Business Awards. 

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience 

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the town centre 
regeneration works. We have submitted a draft bid to the Future High Street Fund 
and are awaiting feedback. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 11



3 

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life 

 

Key Action Q3 Update 

Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities 

The rugby facility is now open. Detailed brief and funding required for open space 
provision based on the agreed master plan. 

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces 

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 3, 20 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 176. 
Attendees were 74. 
 

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 3, 81 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 641. Attendees were 285. There were 
9 new people that joined the walks. 
 

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 3, 26 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 293. 
Attendees were 120. 
 

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 3, 34 people engaged on the programme. 20 
people completed the course and 3 of these achieved a weight loss of >5%. 
 

Don’t Sit Get Fit consists of providing support to targeted schools throughout the year 
in relation to the Health Weight Agenda. The new Pilot programme works in 
partnership with KCHFT and Public Health School nursing team. Across 3 primary 
schools, 42 adults and 69 children were on the programme. 
 

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events. 
 

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 3: 
 

 2 businesses engaged on the workplace Health 

 0 businesses have set 3 pledges for small changes, including number of those 
defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses 

 0 businesses have made the changes as set out in their 3 pledges, including 
number of those defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses  

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 11



4 

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes 

There has been one Salute to Youth application received and awarded in quarter 3. 
With a number of changes having taken place within the team, the Community Grants 
are yet to be promoted, but a number of enquiries have been captured and will 
receive the funding application information once ready. 

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer 
There is continued collaboration between the Council and Places Leisure to bring 
forward the expansion of the Fairfield car park. 

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre 

Exhibitions by Ebbsfleet Academy and Kent Potters Association has taken place in 
the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. North Kent College will be exhibiting in February. 
 

A Service Level Agreement is being developed with What If (Community) Ltd for the 
development of arts projects across the Borough. 
 

Discussions have taken place with the Arts Council about Dartford’s role in the 
Thames Gateway Production Corridor. 
 

Discussions have taken place with the Ashmolean about an exhibition of Samuel 
Parkers works in the town. 

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year 

Dartford Festival was extremely successful with over 30,000 people attending over 
the weekend. 
 

All three Cinema in the Park events have taken place and were extremely well 
attended. 
 

All three Theatre in the Park events have now taken place, with over 400 people 
attending each performance. 

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments 

Ongoing provision of new green spaces as part of build out of major sites, including 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet Green, The Bridge, St Clements Lakes, Northern Gateway 
East and Mill Pond. Laying out of open space at top end of Phoenix Quarter (Temple 
Hill Road) has been completed and is now open. Stone Lodge to provide improved 
and more useable green space. 
 

Further green space provision will be planned as new planning applications come 
forward. 

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site 

The developer and the CCG are currently finalising the designs for the health hub. 
The planning application for the whole Co-op site, including the health hub, is 
expected to be submitted in March 2020. 

 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 11



5 

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES 
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise 

 

Key Action Q3 Update 

Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others 

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect. In the year 2018/19, 316 Community Protection Warning letters were issued 
and 67 Community Protection Notices were issued. 

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour 

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are still 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre. In partnership 
with Kent Crimestoppers, the 'Kent's Most Wanted', initiative was launched on 2 
digital screens in the Orchard and Priory Shopping Centres. This shows images of 
Kent's most wanted criminals amongst normal advertisements. This project is the first 
of it's kind in the UK. Further training about the use of CPW/N's took place at DBC in 
September 2019.  

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety 

96% of businesses in Dartford are broadly compliant with food hygiene regulation 
(rating of 3 or above). 

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol 

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs; one kebab restaurant had its 
licence revoked in August 2019. There has also been very innovative and ground 
breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi and private hire 
drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the country. 

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford 

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country. 

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public 

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 11



6 

particularly excess drinking in public places. The 'Kent's Most Wanted' initiative in the 
Orchard Centre and Priory Centre in partnership with Kent Crimestoppers is proving 
very successful. In 2020 a scheme to tackle low level juvenile offending will ensue 
with retailers and the Police in order to divert offenders from criminal behaviour. 

 

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel 
 

Key Action Q3 Update 

Procure a new waste collection contract New contractor (Urbaser) took over from Amey on 1 July 2019. 

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking 

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security (now known as LA Support Ltd) to 
act as our enforcement capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since 
then and up until the end of August 2019, 11,435 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have 
been issued to offenders in the borough. 
 
DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few LA’s within Kent to have introduced this. Following a report, Cabinet have 
approved  the powers of LA Support officers to include offences of fly tipping, fly 
posting, graffiti, commercial (trade) waste and breaches of the Public Space 
Protection order for the town, to commence on 25th January 2020.  

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented 

Volunteer litter picking scheme is now up and running. 

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments 

Energy efficiency standards are now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017. 

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity 

East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected. Detailed changes to the 
design and route of the scheme are being consulted on until 25 March. It is proposed 
to submit the application for public examination in summer 2020.  Expected opening 
date 2027-8. 

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures 

Completed. 

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national Monitoring has been undertaken in accordance with national requirements.  Data 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 11



7 

requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents 

capture at all locations above 90%.  The Council has engaged a specialist contractor 
to identify measures within our control which will have a positive impact upon Air 
Quality.   

 

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES 
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users 

 

Key Action Q3 Update 

Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme 

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval. 

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 

Delivery target achieved. 

Include community facilities as part of major new developments 

First primary school on Eastern Quarry at Castle Hill now open. Proposals for 
secondary school and primary school at Alkerden, Eastern Quarry being progressed. 
 

Proposals for a primary school at Ebbsfleet Green being progressed. 
 

Construction has started on a new primary school in the Northern Gateway (Central 
Rd). Temporary school opened in September 2019 with permanent school in 
September 2020.  
 
Application on Stone Lodge incorporating a secondary school has been approved.  A 
temporary school opened in September 2019.  The permanent secondary school is 
expected to open in September 2021.   
 

Plans are being progressed for a health hub on the former Co-op site as part of Muse 
development.  
 

CCG is working on proposals to bring forward a GP hub in the Stone/Greenhithe 
area, with funding support from CIL. 
 

Discussions are underway to secure a site for a further primary school in Stone.  

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 11



8 

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes 

There has been one Salute to Youth application received and awarded in quarter 3. 
With a number of changes having taken place within the team, the Community Grants 
are yet to be promoted, but a number of enquiries have been captured and will 
receive the funding application information once ready. 

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light 

Dartford Festival was extremely successful with over 30,000 people attending over 
the weekend. 
 

All three Cinema in the Park events have taken place and were extremely well 
attended. 
 

All three Theatre in the Park events have now taken place, with over 400 people 
attending each performance. 
 

Santa’s House was also a success as was the Santa’s tour. 

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum 

Owing to changes in the way in which funding is provided by the HLA, the Council 
may need to look again at the future development of the Museum. 

Maximise the number of people registered to vote 
No update provided. 
 

 
 
 

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY 
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement 
 

Key Action Q3 Update 

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money 

Much work has been completed to provide responsive and intelligent online access to 
information relating to the Refuse & Recycling service since the service provider 
changed from Amey to Urbaser. In essence, the enhanced online services available 
to the public means that all the calls currently taken by the Contact Centre relating to 
the Refuse & Recycling service could be handled online.  As calls relating to Refuse 
& Recycling represent over half all calls received by the Contact Centre, there are 
very significant efficiency gains to be had if a greater proportion of these calls were to 
be made online. 

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the Agile working has been rolled out to all users who have the ability to work from home 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 11



9 

Council 

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget 

Budget Report in development. Balanced budget proposed. 

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 

2018/19 element of programme delivered on time and within budget. 2019/20 
programme has commenced. 

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates 

Additional 75% retention scheme delayed until 2021/22. Also delays reset of growth 
to date by a year. Most exiting pilot schemes cancelled for 2020/21. No new schemes 
proposed. 

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019 

Project now complete. 

 
  

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 42



1 

 

APPENDIX B 
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20 

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q3 2019/20 
 

Performance Indicator Status 

 
Alert 

 
Warning 

 
OK 

 
Data Only Indicator (no target) 

 

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value    Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income  

£794,057 
 

£2,075,404 
 

£1,517,737 £870,903 £2,874,585 £5,263,225 
 

  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been 
applied to eligible development since April 2014. 
During quarter 3 of 2019/20, 14 payments have been 
made.  Payments can rise or fall from quarter to 
quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement 
of consented development. 15% of the revenue 
generated from CIL liable developments in a local 
area, will be passed to town/parish councils and 
applied to projects in local neighbourhoods, and up to 
5% of the total CIL revenue may be used for 
administrative costs. In December 2019 Cabinet 
agreed an indicative 5 Year programme of CIL 
projects. It is likely CIL allocations will be made 
towards health/GP provision during the 2020/21 
financial year, subject to details being confirmed by 
the CCG.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 11



2 

Overall Borough Indicators 

 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Overall business birth rate 660 
 

705 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

The Business Demography data set refers to new 
business registrations as business births. Latest 
available figures show that there were 705 business 
births in 2018, which is up 6.82% from the previous 
year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business birth 
rate in 2018 was 7,900. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update for 2019 is due at the end of 
November 2020. 

Overall business death rate 640 
 

575 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

The Business Demography data set refers to 
businesses that have ceased to trade (identified 
through de-registration of the administrative units, that 
is, VAT and PAYE) as business deaths. Latest 
available figures show that there were 575 business 
deaths in 2018, which is down 10.16% from the 
previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business death rate in 2018 was 6,695. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due at the end 
of November 2020. 

District wide unemployment rate 1.3% 
 

1.7% 
 

1.9% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 
 

  

There were 1,495 unemployed people in the Borough 
in December 2019, which represents an 
unemployment rate of 2.1%. This has increased by 
1.0% since the previous month (15 more unemployed 
people in December than in November), and has 
increased by 62.5% from the same time last year (575 
more unemployed people in December 2019 than in 
December 2018). In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
unemployment rate in December 2019 was 2.7%. 

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 

1,031 
 

1,010 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

Another year of strong house delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 2019/20, 
taking into account the number of homes under 
construction in April 2019. Delivery at Ebbsfleet 
Garden City represented 13% of the overall figure. 
The proportion of housing delivered in Ebbsfleet 
Garden City is expected to rise in future year, as 
delivery levels at other sites across the Borough 
decrease, due to many of them of them reaching 
completion or final phases of development. 

 
 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 11



3 

 

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Total 
Fairfield Centre Visits 

504,916 
 

526,563 
 

147,831 141,152 123,600 412,583 
 

  

Quarter 3 as usual has been the quietist period of the 
year, however, looking back at the previous year most 
areas are continuing to grow. Fitness activities 
continue to drive high use with more people staying in 
exercise in the lead up to Christmas. One of the most 
significant areas of growth from previous years is 
parties. Fairfield have opened booking capacity to 
allow for the increase in demand for their active parties 
being driven by the inflatable and gymnastic/soft play 
parties in the sports hall resulting in use doubling from 
the previous year. 
 
As always there was plenty going on outside the 
“business as usual” activities, such as wellbeing 
workshops for World Mental Health day, charity days 
for Children In Need and the Santa Toy Appeal to raise 
toy donations for Darent Valley hospital children’s 
ward. 
 
The quarterly customer survey was carried out and 
results came in with an 11.4% positive score. The 
sample section of customers that responded was 158 
of which only 8 detractor comments were received in 
comparison to 44 promoters. This is a small decline in 
score and number of responses from the previous 
quarter, which is typical for the time of year. 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run Users 

161 
 

266 
 

272 271 268 270 
 

  

Dartford Central Park park run:average 176.5 
participants per week. 
 
Dartford Heath park run average: 91.4 participants per 
week. 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park Run 
Users 

35 
 

41 
 

40 40 40 40 
 

  
Numbers attending the junior park run remain 
consistent. 

Number of local groups supported 38 
 

40 
 

2 4 4 10 
 

  In quarter 3 there were 3 grants awarded under the 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 11



4 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

through Community Grant and other 
grant schemes 

DBC Community Fund. There has been one Salute to 
Youth application received and awarded in quarter 3. 
With a number of changes having taken place within 
the team, the Community Grants are yet to be 
promoted, but a number of enquiries have been 
captured and will receive the funding application 
information once ready. 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 

191 
 

159 
 

36 35 53 124 
 

  

Income for this quarter is up compared to the last 
quarter due to it being the busiest time of the season 
for teams having a full schedule. There are also not 
many slots available with Monday and Friday 9pm until 
10pm being the only one that is free. Compared to this 
quarter last year they are doing very well and this is 
due to carry on for the next quarter. 
 
There is a waiting list currently for the mini pitches as 
they are fully booked during the key days Tuesday, 
Wednesday and Fridays but will ensure if any become 
available they will be filled almost straight away.  
 
The next quarter will see another busy period with only 
one half term in February and these three months will 
be the end of the football season so all teams will still 
be training.  
 
Housekeeping on the mini pitch remains a good 
standard. All the holes that they were worried about 
last quarter have been fixed and will last until the new 
refurb in the summer. The new signs that were 
requested have been delivered and put up. 

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used) 

59.42% 
 

62% 
 

54% 31.33% 58.67% 48% 
 

  

At the start of December there was a mixture of 
comedy and musicals with Rhod Gilbert, Jimmy Carr 
and Frank Skinner bringing their comedy prowess to 
the Orchard along with a Whitney and Carole King 
tribute entertaining and serenading audiences. 
 

The theatre also hosted a multitude of Christmas 
parties including a Michael Bublé tribute act, an Abba 
festive afternoon tea, a family fuelled event ‘Christmas 
Cracker’ and many more. These events helped put 
both staff and customers alike in the Christmas mood. 
 

A special Christmas show of That’ll Be the Day joined 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 11



5 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

the theatre on 15 December. According to Time Out 
magazine this is the best Rock ‘n’ Roll show on the 
road and the audience got to celebrate the festive 
season with all of the Christmas classics from the 50’s, 
60’s and 70’s. 
 

The Magic of Christmas put on a special performance 
in aid of the Mind Charity on 19 December. The 
Belvedere Concert Band along with other guests 
brought the very best of music and songs from the 
classics, stage and big screen with plenty of Christmas 
favourites. 
 

The annual pantomime opened on 14 December. This 
year they welcomed Peter Pan to the theatre. Soap 
star Steve McFadden played the villainous Captain 
Hook alongside his hilarious shipmate Andy Ford as Mr 
Smee. Audiences with gripped as they followed the 
darlings on an adventure they will never forget, 
especially that ticking crocodile. 

 

Overall Borough Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Life expectancy gap for men N/A 
 

N/A 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2015-17 show that life 
expectancy is 7.5 years lower for men in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.7 
years lower for men. This is an annual indicator and 
the next update is due July 2020. 

Life expectancy gap for women 

 
 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2015-17 show that life 
expectancy is 4.8 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 5.0 
years lower for women. This is an annual indicator and 
the next update is due July 2020. 

Percentage of obese children in Year 
6 

22.2% 
 

23.4% 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2018-19 show that 23.4% of 
children in the Borough in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) 
were classified as obese (including severe obese). 
This is higher than the previous year where 22.2% of 
children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 11



6 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

overall (KCC area) for 2018-19, the figure is 18.4%. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update is due 
at the end of 2020. 

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week 

71.5% 
 

N/A 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 71.5% of 
adults were physically active in the Borough. This is up 
from the 2016/17 figure of 63.9%. This indicator is 
defined as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that 
meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for 
physical activity (150+ moderate intensity equivalent 
minutes per week). 

 

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Total number of arrests instigated by 
CCTV this month 

78 
 

76 
 

21 23 17 61 
 

  
Outcomes have increased slightly due to an increase 
and stability in staffing levels. 

Total number of arrests supported by 
CCTV this month 

58 
 

81 
 

13 35 17 65 
 

  Outcomes have remained stable. 

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 

116 
 

83 
 

68 69 63 63 
 

  

There has been some new take up from businesses 
but the overall figure remains slightly reduced 
compared to recent years due to business closures 
and financial constraints on some SME’s. This remains 
a challenge. The DTAC Intelligence Manager is 
working hard to increase membership. 

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions against 
persistent offenders 

14 
 

10 
 

10 11 9 30 
 

  

We are continuing to use Community Protection 
Warnings (CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions which 
are non-enforceable. This is proving to be a far better 
and more strategic approach which has a legislative 
framework to support it. 

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued 

379 
 

343 
 

76 67 122 265 
 

  
This continues to be a highly effective tool  in tackling 
ASB across the district. 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 11



7 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued 

46 
 

68 
 

6 12 24 42 
 

  
The lower numbers of CPN’s (against CPW’s) reflects 
the effectiveness of Community Protection Warnings. 

Number of Public Space Protection 
Order Enforcement Notices issued 

0 
 

1 
 

2 0 0 2 
 

  

The performance reflects the vulnerability of the 
enforcement principally laying with another agency 
(Police). 

Percentage of High risk (categories A 
& B) food hygiene inspections due 
and completed (cumulative) 

100% 
 

100% 
 

83.33% 100% 100% 100% 
 

100% 
100% of Dartford high premises due have been 
inspected as of 5th January 2020. 

 

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations in the 
Borough (micrograms per m2) 

43.1 
 

40.2 
 

35.3 29.7 37.1 34 
 

  
Average NO2 levels within national objective levels at 
all Automatic Air Quality Monitoring Stations. 

Number of households taking part in 
energy efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough 

241 
 

350 
 

77 79 20 176 
 

  
Positive outcomes so far this year with end numbers 
likely to be in line with 2018/19 out turn. 

Number of households taking part in 
green bin (garden waste) service 

5,740 
 

6,011 
 

6,067 6,233.67 6,217 6,172 
 

6,000 Number of customers remains at slightly over 6,000. 

Number of fly tipping incidents 2,560 
 

2,670 
 

823 706 544 2,073 
 

 Number of incidents has decreased. 

Number of graffiti incidents 58 
 

64 
 

12 8 12 32 
 

 
Number of reported  incidents of graffiti remains very 
low. 

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 

0.6% 
 

0.4% 
 

1% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 
 

  Waste going to landfill remains under 1%. 

 

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES 
 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 11



8 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

No of households on the housing 
register 

1,134 
 

785 
 

725 738 793 793 
 

  The number is fairly static compared to last 12 months. 

No of households living in temporary 
accommodation 

108 
 

69 
 

78 98 94 94 
 

  

The number of families in TA has remained fairly static 
when compared to the last 2 quarters.  The new 
processes introduced to meet the challenges of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, the creation of the 
Homeless Hub and the successful prevention 
approach adopted will all assist in reducing the number 
of families in TA. Further operational and management 
changes are being introduced to further build on the 
successes and reduction in TA placement and 
expenditure. 

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 

78 
 

215 
 

80 76 57 213 
 

  

In this quarter delivering homeless preventions 
outcomes remain high following the introduction of the 
new working approaches in reaction to the introduction 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act. This is positive for 
applicants under the threat of homelessness. 

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector Housing 

234 
 

313 
 

183 57 82 322 
 

187 
PS actions have already greatly exceed the estimated  
target for year. 

Percentage of repairs completed in 
time 

87.62% 
 

91.40% 
 

94.11% 92.90% 93.35% 93.44% 
 

98.00% Performance is close to target. 

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar days) 
(EXCL major works). 

21.02 
 

23.58 
 

18.96 16.07 23.46 19.3 
 

20 

The quarter 3 figure is above target due to large 
amount of voids that required extensive works 
encountered in quarter 3 2019/20, far above 
experience in previous years. Void rent loss however 
was within target and yearly average performance still 
below target of 20 days. 

 

Overall Borough Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Number of affordable homes 173 
 

237 
 

50 0 49 99 
 

90 Affordable Housing completions have already 

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 11



9 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

delivered (gross) exceeded the target set for year and are likely to rise 
further. 

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 

1,031 
 

1,010 
 

Not measured for Quarters N/A 
 

  

Another year of strong house delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 2019/20, 
taking into account the number of homes under 
construction in April 2019. Delivery at Ebbsfleet 
Garden City represented 13% of the overall figure. The 
proportion of housing delivered in Ebbsfleet Garden 
City is expected to rise in future year, as delivery levels 
at other sites across the Borough decrease, due to 
many of them of them reaching completion or final 
phases of development. 

Number of service requests raised 
for Private Sector Housing 

272 
 

338 
 

97 90 89 276 
 

  
Service requests received this year are likely to exceed 
those received last year if current volumes continue. 

No of private sector vacant dwellings 
that are returned into occupation or 
demolished 

100 
 

100 
 

24 23 23 70 
 

60 Annual target met already. 

 

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected 

98.9% 
 

99.3% 
 

30.7% 56.4% 83.0% 83.0% 
 

82.0% 
Collection is running ahead of profiled monthly 
collection. 

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected 

97% 
 

96.8% 
 

29.1% 56.5% 83.8% 83.8% 
 

82.5% 
Collection is running ahead of profiled monthly 
collection. 

Average time taken to process a new 
claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative) 

22 
 

23 
 

21 20 20 20 
 

 23 

The average time to process a new claim for Housing 
Benefit remains at 20 days and within the target of 23 
days. 

Number of phone calls received by 
the Council 

518,358 
 

502,241 
 

122,406 120,517 108,368 351,291 
 

  

Quarter 3 volume of calls significantly lower than same 
period last financial year and this years previous 2 
quarters.  Reduction attributed to ongoing self-serve 
and channel shift initiatives and greatly improved 
Contractor performance for Waste & Parks.   

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee 

3.18 
 

4.69 
 

0.76 0.98 1.51 3.25 
 

3 
Seasonal bugs responsible for increase in short term 
absence level. 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 11



10 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 
2019/20 

Q2 
2019/20 

Q3 
2019/20 

2019/20 
Target Note 

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status 

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 weeks) 
illness per employee 

3.15 
 

6.31 
 

1.56 1.31 0.97 3.84 
 

3.78 

Wellbeing work to try and reduce absence continues 
and support systems to aid people to come back to 
work sooner, where possible, in place. 

Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice 

99.35% 
 

99.18% 
 

97.87% 98.41% 99.83% 98.72% 
 

99% An excellent quarter with only a few late payments. 

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed. 

97.8% 
 

97.29% 
 

91.17% 94.66% 96.69% 96.69% 
 

96% 

On target to achieve cumulative target set for end of 
year and is positive despite increase in arrears levels. 
Management action has been introduced to further 
reduce arrears levels. 

Number of visits to DBC website 829,677 
 

895,982 
 

200,973 N/A N/A 200,973 
 

  

The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has 
clarified that the website cookie that Dartford (and 
every other Council) relies on to produce statistics on 
the number of visits to our website is not an essential 
cookie, and must therefore be turned off by default. We 
could offer the customer the opportunity to turn the 
cookie back on, but we would have no way of knowing 
the percentage of people who did decide to turn the 
cookie on, and this would likely be a relatively small 
proportion. Ultimately it is now impossible for us to 
comply with the ICO instruction and provide meaningful 
information on the number of visits to our website.  
 
Information can instead be provided on the number of 
website hits, which in quarter 3, there were a total of 
984,646 website hits.  

 
  

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 11



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on Wednesday 29 
January 2020. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor David J Mote (Chairman) 
Councillor Jeremy A Kite MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs Ann D Allen MBE 
Councillor Kelly Grehan 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
    Sheri Green, Strategic Director (External Services) 
    Peter Dosad, Head of Housing 
    Jackie Pye, Housing Development & Policy Manager 
    Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of Regeneration   
 
 
 

18. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

20. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD HELD ON 16 OCTOBER 2019 AND 
MATTERS ARISING  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 16 
October 2019 be confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

21. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

22. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

23. UPDATE ON GOVERNMENT FUNDING TO SUPPORT HOMELESSNESS  
 
The Strategic Housing Board received an update on funding streams provided 
by the Government to local authorities and other organisations to assist in the 
prevention and relief of homelessness and on recent funding for 
homelessness projects in Dartford. It was noted that Dartford had been 

Page 53 Agenda Item 12



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020 
 
 

2 

awarded funding of £362,679 by way of Flexible Homeless Support Grant 
(FHSG), £137,140 Homelessness Reduction Grant (HRG) (replacing what 
was previously called New Burdens funding) and £106,000 Homeless 
Prevention Grant (HPG). The report outlined the initiatives that could be 
supported from the funds provided by each grant and in particular the greater 
flexibility to prioritise homelessness prevention under FHSG rather than by 
utilising the more restrictive temporary accommodation management fee that 
could only be used for households that were already homeless. The report 
also described the successful joint bid in 2019 for funding under the 
Government’s Rough Sleeper initiative, with Gravesham and Swale Borough 
Councils, and in conjunction with Look Ahead and Porchlight and how support 
was being delivered under that initiative. It was noted that Porchlight had been 
able to carry out their complex needs navigator role immediately as they 
already had an officer in place but that difficulties had been experienced with 
delivering the complex needs and supported housing role. The current bid for 
further funding under the Rough Sleeper Initiative envisaged this role being 
brought back in-house by each of the Councils and the additional funding that 
the Council had bid for would be for Dartford clients only. 
 
The Head of Housing described the innovative work carried out by the 
Council’s Housing Hub, working with partners across the sector, which had 
proved very successful and had enabled the Council to deliver its full range of 
statutory housing responsibilities within the Homeless Reduction Act. This had 
been introduced on a pilot basis for two years, which was nearing its end, and 
it was proposed to continue with this model as it was working well. He 
welcomed the greater flexibility associated with the FHSG and outlined the 
intention to appoint 1.5 FTE’s (subject to approval) specifically to support 
rough sleeping and to assist rough sleepers during their first year of tenancy, 
which often proved challenging. It was noted that since the operation of the 
first Winter Shelter the numbers of rough sleepers in the Borough had fallen 
from 28 to around 10-11 but that it would be difficult to eradicate rough 
sleeping entirely, as for a small number of people, this was a lifestyle 
decision. The Board recognised the good work being carried out by the 
Council and local partners.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.    
 

24. DARTFORD HOMELESSNESS  
 
The Strategic Housing Board considered a report which provided background 
and context to the annual homelessness statistics for Dartford produced by 
Shelter and outlined the measures taken by the Council to manage temporary 
accommodation. The report clarified the legal definition of homelessness and 
the various different housing circumstances that this could comprise and 
explained that the homelessness statistics produced by Shelter were 
misleading. The figure produced for Dartford included not only homeless 
applicants that had been placed in temporary accommodation by the Council 
but also those families transferred to Dartford by London authorities for 

Page 54Agenda Item 12



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020 
 
 

3 

accommodation and placements made by KCC whilst still counting these 
within the figures for the relevant London Borough and KCC. As a result there 
was an element of double counting which distorted the figures. Porchlight had 
also expressed doubts about the accuracy of the data for Dartford published 
by Shelter. 
 
The report explained the different ways in which the Council provided 
temporary accommodation to homeless families through privately leased 
properties in and outside the Borough. It was explained that it was a Council 
policy to not place families with children in Bed & Breakfast accommodation or 
in any properties with shared facilities.   As at 16 January 2020 there were 88 
households placed by the Council in nightly paid temporary accommodation of 
which 72 households included children. The vast majority of these households 
were in self-contained placements within the Borough but 26 were in out-of-
borough placements. Where a household was placed outside of the borough 
the Council endeavoured to obtain accommodation for them within the 
borough as soon as possible to enable them to move back to Dartford and to 
minimise the impact on education, employment and family support networks. 
 
One of the ways in which the Council secured accommodation was via the 
Dartford Private Leasing Scheme (DPLS) whereby the Council leased 
privately owned accommodation from landlords and the property and 
occupants were managed by the Housing Solutions team directly. There were 
currently 157 households in DPLS accommodation, 98 of which included 
children. All of these properties were located in Dartford and were self-
contained flats and houses. This type of accommodation provided greater 
stability than nightly paid-for accommodation could offer thereby benefitting 
vulnerable households and mitigating the higher cost of nightly paid-for 
accommodation. This was a significant cost with the net spend on nightly paid 
accommodation totalling £824,136 and the net expenditure on DPLS 
accommodation totalling £580,781. It was estimated however that the use of 
DPLS accommodation offered a saving of c.30% against the cost of using 
nightly paid-for accommodation and provided higher quality for housing 
clients.  The new staff resources, if approved, would enable the team to 
increase the DPLS portfolio. 
 
The Head of Housing explained the background to the statistics published by 
Shelter on an annual basis which he explained tended to be collated from 
responses to freedom of information requests and focussed on children. He 
explained that every person in need of temporary housing was important to 
the Council but that where people were housed in Dartford by other 
authorities the Council had no input to that process and no control over the 
quality of the accommodation provided. Where the Council dealt directly with 
people in need of accommodation it ensured that the quality of 
accommodation was good and that families were always placed in self-
contained accommodation. He explained the operation of the DPLS and how 
this enabled the Council to provide decent temporary accommodation at a 
lower cost than using nightly-paid for accommodation and that, although the 
budget for temporary accommodation was constantly under pressure, the use 
of DPLS and other measures meant that the spend for the current year was 

Page 55 Agenda Item 12



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020 
 
 

4 

significantly better than the previous year. He explained that it was not always 
possible to house people in the Borough, and that where this occurred the 
Council tried to find in-borough placements for them as soon as possible. This 
situation was not helped by London authorities placing their clients in Dartford 
to take advantage of lower rents than were available in their own areas which 
then resulted in displacement of local people with housing need. The scope 
for using specific properties within the borough was discussed and it was 
noted that if opportunities were missed these would be quickly picked up by 
other local authorities. The success of the Copperfields scheme was noted. 
Members noted the displacement effect caused by the placement of other 
authority’s housing clients in the borough and felt that this would be 
addressed if the funding followed the client rather than providing an incentive 
for the originating authority to seek cheaper rental options in other areas to 
meet their statutory obligations.     
 
The Strategic Housing Board recognised that homelessness and the 
response to it were complex matters and that statistics could be misconstrued 
and noted the ways in which the Council sought to manage the demands 
made on  housing services. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.    
 

25. KENT COUNTY COUNCIL SELECT COMMITTEE CALL FOR EVIDENCE - 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
 
The Strategic Housing Board was informed that Kent County Council (KCC) 
was currently running a Select Committee on Affordable Housing which would 
consider how Kent fitted into the national context, the current ways in which 
KCC supported the development of new affordable housing across the 
county,    and to identify some key areas where KCC could do more to 
support the development of affordable housing in Kent. The committee was 
taking evidence from a wide array of sources and the Strategic Housing Board 
was invited to submit its views as part of this process. 
 
The Board was reminded that in recent years the Council had developed a 
build programme for affordable social rented Council housing and had built or 
acquired over 90 homes for local people for rent since 2016. Although this 
programme was likely to continue on small parcels of surplus council owned 
land this was in short supply and it was felt that it could be helpful for the 
district councils to work with KCC to identify surplus KCC land or buildings 
that could be used to provide affordable social housing. Members were 
reminded that Dartford’s planning policies set a target that all qualifying 
developments should include a 30% affordable housing element but that 
because of the lack of government funding for social rented homes many 
developers and housing associations were seeking higher levels of shared 
ownership or other forms of home ownership products which might not be 
affordable for those on low incomes. It was therefore suggested that KCC 

Page 56Agenda Item 12



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020 
 
 

5 

could be asked to help lobby MP’s to highlight the need for additional 
government funding for social rented homes.    
 
It was noted that although KCC had established a select committee to look at 
affordable housing, it had no direct responsibility for housing which was a 
Borough/District Council function. As such the select committee could form an 
opinion but not determine or implement a solution. It was also noted that KCC 
was often reluctant to dispose of surplus land and that there were sometimes 
good reasons why KCC should retain land, notably for school provision. 
Where it did dispose of land KCC usually demanded the market price rather 
than ‘best consideration’.  It was also noted that Parish Council’s had 
significant landholdings and that it might be possible for them to release land 
for housing.  
 
The Board felt that it would be beneficial if KCC adopted a similar ‘risk 
appetite’ in housing matters to that of the Council and that it should be clearly 
established that if KCC did release land there should be no diminution of its 
obligations to provide infrastructure to support development. It was also noted 
that KCC might need to take a different approach to releasing land that could 
be needed for education purposes. The Board felt that it would be helpful if a 
protocol could be established between KCC and the District/Borough Councils 
to give them first refusal on surplus land disposals and to drop the 
requirement for KCC to obtain market price rather than best consideration, or 
a value between the two. It was also felt that KCC tended to hold a 
homogenous view of the Districts and did not understand the differing needs 
of various areas.    
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Head of Housing Services should prepare a response to the KCC 
Select Committee on Affordable Housing, in consultation with the Strategic 
Director (External Services) and the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
Strategic Housing Board, as proposed in the report and incorporating the 
views expressed by the Board.  
 

26. DARTFORD STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD MOSAIC  
 
The Strategic Housing Board considered the first draft of the Dartford Housing 
Mosaic. The Chairman explained that this was a work-in-progress and had 
attempted to identify the main categories of people seeking housing in 
Dartford and various scenarios. It would be necessary to drill-down into these 
in greater detail with a view to producing further narrative and links that could 
be incorporated into web pages. He explained that in preparing the mosaic he 
had considered the contents of Dartford’s Local Plan and felt that these were 
fully reflected. The Vice-Chairman felt that the mosaic had principally 
focussed on the Council’s responsibilities rather than looking at the wider 
housing market which he believed had been agreed at the last meeting. To 
this end the mosaic needed to include other aspects of interest to people 
contemplating living in Dartford, such as services for businesses seeking to 
set up in the area and parents who might be interested in finding out about 

Page 57 Agenda Item 12



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020 
 
 

6 

local schools and support services. The mosaic also needed to be frank and 
honest. In terms of the ex-servicemen, for example, it might point to support 
available from other organisations that might be in a better position to offer 
advice and support. The same might apply to ex-offenders who might be 
seeking housing. The Chairman explained that these themes could be picked 
up within the wider narratives and by the provision of suitable links. It was 
suggested that some of these might best be addressed by including case 
studies by way of illustration. 
 
The Chairman thanked Members for their comments and asked to be sent 
any further comments after the meeting. He would reflect these in the next 
iteration of the mosaic and look at developing the narratives and case studies.  
 

27. PROGRESS WITH THE BELLWAY 'COPPERHOUSE GREEN' 
DEVELOPMENT AND DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The Vice-Chairman informed the Board that he had attended the opening day 
for the marketing of apartments at the Bellway ‘Copperhouse Green’ 
development in the town centre. This had been very successful and had 
attracted 280 visitors with 24 sales on the day. He noted that 81% of the 
visitors came from within 10 miles of Dartford. He said that he was optimistic 
that there would be opportunities for closer working with Bellway and the 
positive impact that the development would have on the town centre.   
 
The Strategic Housing Board noted that the next meeting was scheduled to 
take place on 25th March. [Post meeting note: the date of the next meeting 
has been moved to 2.00pm on Wednesday 1st April 2020] 
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 3.27 pm 

 
  

 
 

Councillor D Mote 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 58Agenda Item 12



Document is Restricted

Page 59 Agenda Item A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 January 2020
	Minutes

	6 Reference from the Policy Overview Committee held on 28 January 2020 - Litter and Recycling Services
	Appendix A POC minutes  28 January 2020

	7 Update on Essential Maintenance Works required to the Cliff on Land to the Rear of Maritime & Skippers Close, Greenhithe
	10 Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates
	11 Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators
	APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions (Q3 - 2019-20)
	APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q3 - 2019-20)

	12 Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 29 January 2020
	Minutes

	A Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A (Exempt Category SO 46(1)(b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)

